# Eötvös Loránd University Faculty of Pedagogy and Psychology Doctoral School of Education



### Attila Károly Molnár

# AN EXAMINATION OF PRISONERS' REINTEGRATION-SUPPORTING LEARNING IN THREE PENITENTIARY INSTITUTIONS

Thesis booklet

DOI: 10.15476/ELTE.2021.191

#### **Advisors:**

Mária Kraiciné Szokoly, PhD Judit Hegedűs, PhD

Budapest

2021

# THE STATE OF THE S

#### **EÖTVÖS LORÁND TUDOMÁNYEGYETEM**

#### ADATLAP a doktori értekezés nyilvánosságra hozatalához

#### I. A doktori értekezés adatai

A szerző neve: Molnár Attila Károly

A doktori értekezés címe és alcíme: Fogvatartottak reintegrációt támogató tanulásának vizsgálata három

büntetés-végrehajtási intézetben

A doktori iskola neve: ELTE PPK Neveléstudományi Doktori Iskola

A doktori iskolán belüli doktori program neve: Andragógia

A témavezető neve és tudományos fokozata: Kraiciné dr. Szokoly Mária PhD, Dr. Hegedűs Judit PhD

A témavezető munkahelye: ELTE PPK FTI, NKE RTK

MTA Adatbázis-azonosító: 10057779

DOI-azonosító<sup>1</sup>: 10.15476/ELTE.2021.191

#### II. Nyilatkozatok

1. A doktori értekezés szerzőjeként<sup>2</sup>

- a) hozzájárulok, hogy a doktori fokozat megszerzését követően a doktori értekezésem és a tézisek nyilvánosságra kerüljenek az ELTE Digitális Intézményi Tudástárban. Felhatalmazom az ELTE PPK Neveléstudományi Doktori Iskola hivatalának ügyintézőjét, Barna Ildikót, hogy az értekezést és a téziseket feltöltse az ELTE Digitális Intézményi Tudástárba, és ennek során kitöltse a feltöltéshez szükséges nyilatkozatokat.
- b) kérem, hogy a mellékelt kérelemben részletezett szabadalmi, illetőleg oltalmi bejelentés közzétételéig a doktori értekezést ne bocsássák nyilvánosságra az Egyetemi Könyvtárban és az ELTE Digitális Intézményi Tudástárban;<sup>3</sup>
- c) kérem, hogy a nemzetbiztonsági okból minősített adatot tartalmazó doktori értekezést a minősítés (......dátum)-ig tartó időtartama alatt ne bocsássák nyilvánosságra az Egyetemi Könyvtárban és az ELTE Digitális Intézményi Tudástárban;<sup>4</sup>
- d) kérem, hogy a mű kiadására vonatkozó mellékelt kiadó szerződésre tekintettel a doktori értekezést a könyv megjelenéséig ne bocsássák nyilvánosságra az Egyetemi Könyvtárban, és az ELTE Digitális Intézményi Tudástárban csak a könyv bibliográfiai adatait tegyék közzé. Ha a könyv a fokozatszerzést követőn egy évig nem jelenik meg, hozzájárulok, hogy a doktori értekezésem és a tézisek nyilvánosságra kerüljenek az Egyetemi Könyvtárban és az ELTE Digitális Intézményi Tudástárban.<sup>5</sup>
- A doktori értekezés szerzőjeként kijelentem, hogy
- a) a ELTE Digitális Intézményi Tudástárba feltöltendő doktori értekezés és a tézisek saját eredeti, önálló szellemi munkám és legjobb tudomásom szerint nem sértem vele senki szerzői jogait;
- b) a doktori értekezés és a tézisek nyomtatott változatai és az elektronikus adathordozón benyújtott tartalmak (szöveg és ábrák) mindenben megegyeznek.
- 3. A doktori értekezés szerzőjeként hozzájárulok a doktori értekezés és a tézisek szövegének plágiumkereső adatbázisba helyezéséhez és plágiumellenőrző vizsgálatok lefuttatásához.

Kelt: Budapest, 2021.11.12.

a doktori értekezés szerzőjének aláírása

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A kari hivatal ügyintézője tölti ki.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A megfelelő szöveg aláhúzandó.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A doktori értekezés benyújtásával egyidejűleg be kell adni a tudományági doktori tanácshoz a szabadalmi, illetőleg oltalmi bejelentést tanúsító okiratot és a nyilvánosságra hozatal elhalasztása iránti kérelmet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A doktori értekezés benyújtásával egyidejűleg be kell nyújtani a minősített adatra vonatkozó közokiratot.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A doktori értekezés benyújtásával egyidejűleg be kell nyújtani a mű kiadásáról szóló kiadói szerződést.

# **Table of contents**

1.	Reintegration and learning in prison	5
	The goal and target group of the dissertation	
2.	Prison as a scene of adult learning	7
3.	Results of empirical research, discussion	9
	Research questions	9
	Hypotheses	
	Methodology of empirical research	
	Confirmation of hypotheses	
	Suggestions	22
4.	References	23
5.	The author's publications on the topic of the dissertation	25
-	Papers, journal articles	25
	Conferences and scientific presentations	
6.	Other publications of the author	28
	Conference presentations	
	Other presentations	
	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

# List of tables

1 <sup>st</sup> Table Main features of empirical research	11
2 <sup>nd</sup> Table Result of reliability calculation of intra-coding	12
3 <sup>rd</sup> Table Methods used to confirm the hypotheses	13
4 <sup>th</sup> Table Frequency of low levels of learning motivation among prisoners in the three institutions combined	15
5 <sup>th</sup> Table Crosstabulation of low motivation and place of detention	15
6 <sup>th</sup> Table The frequency of high levels of learning motivation among prisoners in the three institutions together	15
7 <sup>th</sup> Table Crosstabulation of a high level of motivation and a place of detention	16
8 <sup>th</sup> Table Frequency of aspects that interfere with learning (prison harms) among prisoners in the three institutions together	17
9 <sup>th</sup> Table Crosstabulation of prison harms and place of detention	17
10 <sup>th</sup> Table Crosstabulation of the impact of prison harms on learning and place of detention	18
11 <sup>th</sup> Table Crosstabulation of the supportive nature of the learning toolkit available in prison and the of the place of detention	20

# 1. Reintegration and learning in prison

In the world of education and training, the new millennium has brought a paradigmatic shift by defining lifelong learning, and in particular all forms of learning<sup>1</sup>, as engines of socio-economic development. European Union documents state that in order to be employable, we need to use skills and competencies as effectively as possible, regardless of how we acquired them (European Commission, 1996; Commission of The European Communities, 2000). This requires an open and flexible approach that allows for continuous skills development. The appreciation of adult learning has brought to the fore the issue of catching up with disadvantaged social groups<sup>2</sup> through training (Tippelt & Hippel, 2010; Kraiciné, 2012; Budai, 2017). As knowledge becomes a driver of development today, during the fourth industrial revolution, exploiting the potential of lifelong learning is a key issue. Access to learning is an individual and social opportunity and duty for all citizens, as it is a driver of sustainable economic and social development. Thus, the active participation of prisoners serving their custodial sentences in organized learning processes is a priority and an important tool for reintegration (Act 240, 2013 §133 (2) j).

Over the past centuries, the treatment of offenders has changed significantly, and the goals to be achieved for people serving their sentences have been redefined and clarified (Foucault, 1990; Schöh & Stuefer, 2017). Two significant historical periods can be identified in terms of positive changes: one is the XVIII. century, when changes in legislation emphasizing the principle of humanity first appeared, the other is the period between the Second World War and the regime change, when, following the example of prison developments in other European countries, many developments aimed at reintegration were launched in Hungary as well. The institutional system of the penitentiary now provides access to education, supports the acquisition of professions in prisons, thus contributing to the successful reintegration of prisoners (Gorgol & Sponsler, 2011). Prisoners belonging to socially disadvantaged groups and with learning difficulties have to deal with several barriers to their learning that can significantly hamper the success of their learning process (Bolgár, 2019). For learning in prisons to be a natural and effective process for as many prisoners as possible, the material and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Forms of learning: formal, non-formal, and informal learning (Commission of The European Communities, 2000; International Council of Adult Education, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Disadvantaged social groups: living in a worse economic and social situation than the national average, for which state interventions and support programs have been established to improve their situation.

personal conditions for learning based on existing legal conditions need to be developed. This will help reduce the high rate of re-offending after release, which is currently at 48.2% (Rutkai & Sánta, 2020, p. 10). In addition to the work of staff in penitentiary institutions, the role of pedagogical professionals is also becoming more important. There is a need for professionally trained teachers who can implement a learning process adapted to the socio-cultural background of the prisoners. There is also a need for a modern learning environment and motivated learners who understand the purpose of learning and who undertake to learn. Only in this way can the goal of reintegration of penitentiary be successfully achieved (16/2014. (XII. 19.) IM regulation §17.§ (5)).

The theoretical chapter of the dissertation discusses the relationship between disadvantage and crime, the main learning characteristics of prisoners as a research target group, and the history of the penitentiary in Hungary with a wide range of literature in Hungarian, English, and German. These provided the basis for interpreting learning in prisons and studying the circumstances of the learning process. In the dissertation, we consider all formal, non-formal, and informal learning pathways to be prison learning (Commission of The European Communities, 2000), in particular, the primary and secondary education and vocational training of prisoners, as well as any individual learning process aimed at preparing for release and preparing for a return to society. The primary sources were major international and domestic professional journals on prison affairs. The inventory of opportunities related to prison learning in the research is based on the study of the relevant legal background of the international and domestic penitentiary and vocational and adult education.

#### The goal and target group of the dissertation

The main goal of the dissertation is to contribute to the more successful social integration of prisoners - members of disadvantaged social groups in a broader sense - by examining the issue of learning in prison. The specific aim of the dissertation is to examine the legal background of prisoners' learning, learning opportunities, personal and material conditions in three Hungarian penitentiary institutions, and the learning opportunities provided by penitentiary institutions to support reintegration, and the thing that characterizes the inmates' interest and learning motivation in these. The three target groups of the empirical study are inmates, educators implementing and supporting

learning, and prison staff. A questionnaire survey of inmates focused on inmates' learning motivations, their prior knowledge of learning, and the extent to which learning helps them prepare for life after prison. The interviews of the prison teachers examined the possibilities of reducing the drop-out rate of the prisoners and the pedagogical and andragogical methods used for the success of the learning process. It was also examined whether the teachers feel prepared for the special circumstances and requirements of the pedagogical work in the prison and whether they participate in special in-service teacher training. In connection with the questionnaire interview of the prison staff, the dissertation discusses the learning support attitudes and activities of the reintegration officers and the staff dealing directly with the prisoners. The research has highlighted the fact that the role of staff in supporting learning is essential, establishing the presence of student inmates in classes and practical sessions.

The antecedent of the dissertation was the years of voluntary prison work, which greatly motivated and helped to prepare the dissertation. This work included leading group sessions for prisoners, which provided an opportunity to gain insight into the world of prisons, to have conversations with staff, and to learn about the possibilities and realities of learning in prison.

# 2. Prison as a scene of adult learning

Nowadays, the idea of lifelong learning has become decisive also for learning in prison. The individual's education plays a significant role in solving the problems of work, family, and social life and in the right way of life, and to this, the path leads through learning (Hegedűs, 2019). Participation in lifelong learning is no longer just an obligation of the growing generation but an unavoidable requirement for adults. This is a condition for multiple career changes, retention of labor market positions, and the possibility of a successful life.

When studying lifelong learning, it is worth starting from the constructivist theory among the psychological models of learning, the main feature of which is that students create new knowledge based on their previous knowledge, adapting what they have just learned to their previous experience (Fleming, 2011). A further feature is that learning outcomes can provide students with intrinsic motivation, which is particularly important in prison settings, in a tightly regulated learning process where inmates start at a significant disadvantage compared to adults learning in free living conditions.

Education and training of those living in prisons is a key issue for the success of reintegration and participation in society. Access to education, education and / or vocational training are crucial for prisoners' quality of life after release (Ruzsonyi, 2011).

It is key for prisoners to possess the basic competencies that can be considered as the basis for adult learning (literacy, numeracy, digital competence) and learning to learn, which not only deepens the knowledge and competencies needed in the field but also contributes greatly to use the acquired knowledge in other areas of life as well. Therefore, within prisons, it is extremely important to encourage actions that will enable prisoners to acquire the labor market competencies needed for their long-term and successful employment, as well as the civic competencies needed to lead a constructive life (communication, cooperation, responsibility, etc.) (Balázs, 2017).

The key to the realization of lifelong learning within prisons lies in the practice of a learner-centered approach: an environment, material, and personal conditions must be provided that help to overcome the barriers caused by past learning failures and incarceration. To support learning, prison buildings should be designed to enable and facilitate the learning of prisoners and the effective implementation of the learning process by opening new, motivating learning spaces. The possibility of education ensuring the continuity of integrated learning between prison institutions and the external places of education should be made available, which can also contribute to the development of a cooperative system between teachers working in prisons. The learning and work of prisoners should be considered equal and made equal, and the continuous availability of learning, participation in lessons, and the availability of learning tools should be ensured. The expansion of prison education via the Internet should also be considered a strategic issue concerning learning support (Downes, 2014).

The condition for the establishment of a learning support prison is the preparation of all professionals in direct contact with the prisoners for the performance of learning support tasks, as well as the organized further training of pedagogical and adult education professionals and vocational trainers, in addition to the continuous development of harmonized personal and material conditions, as part of which it is necessary to develop and implement special methods and procedures that can be used in prisons and meet modern security requirements.

# 3. Results of empirical research, discussion

#### Research questions

The research questions focused on the legal background of prison learning in support of reintegration and the practice, personal and material conditions of the three penitentiary institutions examined, and whether they meet the learning needs of prisoners and their prior readiness for successful learning.

- What learning opportunities does sentencing provide for prisoners in preparation for release?
- What organized forms of formal and informal learning does prison enforcement offer, and in what forms do prisoners participate?
- What are the learning motivations of the prisoners?
- What teaching methods do teachers use in the prison training? What motivational procedures are used to reduce the drop-out rate of learning prisoners?
- Are the teachers prepared for the special circumstances and requirements of education and training in prison?
- Is there special in-service teacher training for prison education?

#### Hypotheses

H1: There is no special pedagogical methodological practice in the education and training of prisoners, which would take into account the characteristics of prisoners due to social, economic, and socio-cultural disadvantages.

H1A: The learning competencies, habits, and motivations of the prisoners are underdeveloped compared to their peers in the majority of society, and these characteristics do not support the effective learning and teaching process in prison.

H1B: The post-release goals of the prisoners are undeveloped; they have little motivation to learn.

H2: The prison as a learning environment can be characterized by a number of factors that hinder/impede learning.

H2A: The methodology of pedagogical and adult educating work in prison does not adapt to the special circumstances of learning and teaching in prison.

H2B: Access to the learning toolkit (textbooks, learning aids, library, etc.) is limited in space and time.

H2C: The system of teacher training and in-service training in Hungary does not include special training for the training of prisoners.

H2D: Teachers who work in prison conditions adapt to the needs of the target groups through self-training.

H3: The feasibility and success of the legislation related to education, which helps reintegration, strongly depends on the given personal and material conditions and possibilities of the prison.

#### Methodology of empirical research

The empirical research was carried out in three Hungarian prisons: the Balassagyarmat Strict and Medium Prison, the Vác Strict and Medium Prison, and the Győr-Moson-Sopron County Remand Prison, according to the following aspects: the penitentiary institutions examined should have different characteristics according to their capacity, purpose of detention and regional classification.

In the empirical study, inmates and staff were interviewed using a questionnaire, and teachers were interviewed using a semi-structured interview method. A total of 137 completed and evaluable questionnaires were returned from prisoners, and 27 from interviewees, besides 16 teacher interviews were conducted. The data of the questionnaire and interview research are presented in the table below.

Time of data collection	Location	Method	Target group	Sample
July to August 2019	Out of jail	Interview	Teacher	N=16
	Balassagyarmat	Questionnaire	Prison staff	N=10
	Strict and Medium Prison	Questionnaire	Prisoner	N=47
	Vác Strict and Medium Prison	Questionnaire	Prison staff	N=10
April to May 2018		Questionnaire	Prisoner	N=48
	Győr-Moson- Sopron County Remand Prison	Questionnaire	Prison staff	N=7
		Questionnaire	Prisoner	N=42

1<sup>st</sup> Table Main features of empirical research

The hypotheses were confirmed using two analytical software. In order to understand the deeper correlations of the results obtained by the SPSS quantitative analysis, the qualitative content analysis of all hypotheses and sub-hypotheses was performed using the ATLAS.ti method. During the application of SPSS, the preparation of the analysis started by importing the data from the questionnaires. During the operationalization, the data were transformed into variables, and then an association study was performed according to the hypotheses (Fischer Exact test, significance analysis with crosstabulations, Cramer's V-calculation, and chi-square calculation to show correlations). When calculating the SD (standard deviation), we took into account that in a significant part of the questionnaires the binary and for three-stage Likert scale variables, the standard deviation calculation is not relevant, because these variables are not continuous variables, so they do not represent intervals or scale variables (Mayer). For the only continuous variable (mean age of inmates), SD was indicated. Using ATLAS.ti, coding and analysis were performed using the grounded theory approach (Glaser & Strauss, 1967; Schiller et al., 2020). The 507 statements of the interviewees were coded, and 164 codes were obtained by filtering the content matches, which were modified to 29 codes by merging the responses with similar content. A few days after the first coding cycle, the data were re-coded, reducing the number of codes by one more after refining the codes. The pre-refined data set (s) contained 29 different codes,

the post-refined set (j) contained 28, so we finally continued the analysis with 18 matching codes (n). To calculate reliability (f), the following formula was used (Dafinoiu & Lungu, 2003):

$$f = \frac{2n}{i+j}$$

n: the number of matching codes, i: the number of codes from the first encoding process j: the number of codes from the second encoding process.

The result of the reliability calculation is 0.63157894736. According to the professional literature (Sántha, 2012), coding is considered reliable if f> 0.6, so the results are acceptable from a reliability point of view (see table below).

n	i	j	f
18	29	28	0,63

2<sup>nd</sup> Table Result of reliability calculation of intra-coding

There are 43 inductive codes under the nine theoretical categories that make up deductive elements. The deductive elements represent the hypotheses of the dissertation and are the most important interview questions for the hypotheses.

#### Confirmation of hypotheses

The three hypotheses and sub-hypotheses were confirmed based on the questionnaire and interview studies used.

	Hypothesis	Result	Method of analysis
H1	There is no special pedagogical methodological practice in the education and training of prisoners, which would take into account the characteristics of prisoners due to social, economic, and socio-cultural disadvantages.	Confirmed	ATLAS.ti
H1A	The learning competencies, habits, and motivations of the prisoners are underdeveloped compared to their peers in the majority of society, and these characteristics do not support the effective learning and teaching process in prison.	Confirmed	ATLAS.ti
H1B	The post-release goals of the prisoners are undeveloped; they have little motivation to learn.	Confirmed	SPSS ATLAS.ti
H2	The prison as a learning environment can be characterized by a number of factors that hinder/impede learning.	Confirmed	SPSS ATLAS.ti
H2A	The methodology of pedagogical and adult educating work in prison does not adapt to the special circumstances of learning and teaching in prison.	Confirmed	ATLAS.ti
Н2В	Access to the learning toolkit (textbooks, learning aids, library, etc.) is limited in space and time.	Confirmed	SPSS ATLAS.ti
H2C	The system of teacher training and in-service training in Hungary does not include special training for the training of prisoners.	Confirmed	ATLAS.ti
H2D	Teachers who work in prison conditions adapt to the needs of the target groups through self-training.	Confirmed	ATLAS.ti
Н3	The feasibility and success of the legislation related to education, which helps reintegration, strongly depends on the given personal and material conditions and possibilities of the prison.	Confirmed	ATLAS.ti

3<sup>rd</sup> Table Methods used to confirm the hypotheses

# Confirmation of hypothesis H1

Hypothesis H1, that "There is no special pedagogical methodological practice in the education and training of prisoners, which would take into account the characteristics of prisoners due to social, economic, and socio-cultural disadvantages", has been confirmed using ATLAS.ti. Prisoners are difficult to move out of their unmotivated and aimlessness because teachers are not informed about their previous socio-cultural background, so they have no way to apply and develop their methodology in a targeted way. There is no significant correlation between the degree of motivation of prisoners and the institution as a location. In the classroom, teachers are limited to communicating subject-specific information, so there is little communication between them to look at

the socio-cultural and socio-economic situation of students. This is because the prison regulations prohibit personal conversations between teachers and prisoners. Nevertheless, students sometimes talk about their problems.

"If I let the students talk, it's hard to get back on track."
(Interviewed teacher No. 7)

Educators also reflected that students do not speak honestly in front of each other.

"We can't talk face to face. If there are more, they are lying around." (Interviewed teacher No. 14)

Hypothesis H1A, that "The learning competencies, habits, and motivations of the prisoners are underdeveloped compared to their peers in the majority of society, and these characteristics do not support the effective learning and teaching process in prison", has been confirmed using ATLAS.ti. According to these, the majority of inmates in the sample are low-skilled. Furthermore, a previous experience has been confirmed that the higher the educational level of prisoners, the more they participate in the training offered by the prison. Due to the low level of education of prisoners, the teachers are not able to keep the curriculum schedule, they must return to explain and repeat the parts of the curriculum several times during the lessons.

"Their primary school education is extremely poor, it is difficult to build on, so there is a repetition in the 9th grade, with which time passes." (Interviewed teacher No. 2)

Hypothesis H1B, that "The post-release goals of the prisoners are undeveloped; they have little motivation to learn", has been confirmed using SPSS and ATLAS.ti. The SPSS analysis confirmed that neither low nor high levels of learning motivation of prisoners depend on the location of the detention.

	Frequency	Percent
Not motivated by anything	75	54,7
Motivated by one thing	54	39,4
Motivated by two or three things	8	5,8
Total	137	100,0

4th Table

Frequency of low levels of learning motivation among prisoners in the three institutions combined.

To make the three institutions comparable, we conducted an association study between low levels of motivation and place of detention.

	Not motivated by anything	Motivated by one thing	Motivated by two or three things	Total
Balassagyarmat	24	22	1	47
Dalassagyarmat	51,1%	46,8%	2,1%	100,0%
Vác	26	19	3	48
vac	54,2%	39,6%	6,3%	100,0%
Cvän	25	13	4	42
Győr	59,5%	31,0%	9,5%	100,0%
Total	75	54	8	137
Total	54,7%	39,4%	5,8%	100%

5<sup>th</sup> Table

Crosstabulation of low motivation and place of detention

Using the significance test and the Fischer Exact test, it was confirmed that the correlation between the low level of motivation and the place of detention was not significant, with a significance level of p=0.428.

	Frequency	Percent
Not motivated by anything	95	69,3
Motivated by one thing	37	27,0
Motivated by two or three things	5	3,6
Total	137	100,0

6th Table

The frequency of high levels of learning motivation among prisoners in the three institutions together

To compare the three institutions, we conducted an association study between the high level of motivation and the place of detention.

	Not motivated by anything	Motivated by one thing	Motivated by two or three things	Total
Dalassagyawmat	30	15	2	47
Balassagyarmat	63,8%	31,9%	4,3%	100,0%
<b>1</b> 74 a	29	17	2	48
Vác	60,4%	35,4%	4,2%	100,0%
G. ".	36	5	1	42
Győr	85,7%	11,9%	2,4%	100,0%
T.4.1	95	37	5	137
Total	69,3%	27,0%	3,6%	100,0%

 $$7^{\rm th}$$  Table Crosstabulation of a high level of motivation and a place of detention

Cross-tabulation analysis of the data showed that the association between high levels of motivation and the location of detention was not significant (p=0.053). According to the results of ATLAS.ti, only a small proportion of student inmates participate in a learning process aimed at a more successful future. Some people do not apply to the prison school for knowledge, professional knowledge or education, but for the scholarship they can get, or for the possibility of leaving the cell, and for the environmental diversity provided by learning. Another typical learning motive is praise and reward for good behavior, such as a weekend break. At the same time, some learn in the hope of finding a job in the labor market.

#### Confirmation of hypothesis H2

Hypothesis H2, that "The prison as a learning environment can be characterized by a number of factors that hinder/impede learning", has been confirmed using SPSS and ATLAS.ti. The lack of learning support tools and the lack of methodological culture of teachers adapted to prison conditions can be considered an obstacle to learning in prison. The relationship between access to the learning toolkit and the institution as a location is moderately strong. The in-service training of teachers is not organized, they are prepared individually for the prison work. Based on the SPSS analysis, it can be stated that bullying is a sensitive issue among prisoners. Of the 137 evaluable

questionnaires, only 33 were answered for the question "Did any learning process help you against bullying by fellow prisoners?". Respondents who responded at all were assumed to be affected, while non-respondents were assumed not to be affected by the problem (see 8<sup>th</sup> Table).

Number of confusing aspects	Frequency	Percent
1	1	0,8
2	3	2,5
3	9	7,4
4	108	89,3
Total	121	100,0

8<sup>th</sup> Table
Frequency of aspects that interfere with learning (prison harms) among prisoners in the three institutions together

For comparability between the three institutions, we conducted an association study between prison harms as a barrier to learning and the place of detention (see 9<sup>th</sup> Table).

	One confusing factor	Two confusing factors	Three confusing factors	Four confusing factors	Total
Dalassagrammat	0	2	1	39	42
Balassagyarmat	0,0%	4,8%	2,4%	92,9%	100,0%
Vác	1	1	8	31	41
vac	2,4%	2,4%	19,5%	75,6%	100,0%
C#	0	0	0	38	38
Győr	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	100%	100,0%
Takal	1	3	9	108	121
Total	0,8%	2,5%	7,4%	89,3%	100,0%

9<sup>th</sup> Table Crosstabulation of prison harms and place of detention

According to these, the correlation between the place and the confusing factor is significant (p=0.001) and the strength of the correlation is medium (Cramer'sV = 0.269).

In the question to the staff questionnaire, that "How do you assess the impact of the prisoners' learning activity on the following prison harms? 1. prisonization, 2. hospitalization, 3. stigmatization, 4. bullying", if there was an improvement, it was

coded as +1, if the situation worsened, it was coded as -1, and, if it did not change, it was coded as 0, and finally the four values of the variable were added. Thus, we obtained a scale with possible values ranging from -4 to +4, where negative values indicate the predominance of aggravation of harms and positive values indicate the predominance of improvement. The correlation of the thus created variable with the place of detention was examined with the following cross-tabulation.

	Zero harm	One harm	Two harms	Three harms	Four harms	Total
Dalassassassas	3	1	0	2	2	8
Balassagyarmat	37,5%	12,5%	0,0%	25,0%	25,0%	100%
Vác	3	1	2	2	2	10
vac	30,0%	10,0%	20,0%	20,0%	20,0%	100,0%
C#	2	0	5	0	0	7
Győr	28,6%	0,0%	71,4%	0,0%	0,0%	100,0%
Total	8	2	7	4	4	25
Total	32,0%	8,0%	28,0%	16,0%	16,0%	100,0%

10<sup>th</sup> Table Crosstabulation of the impact of prison harms on learning and place of detention

We found that in Balassagyarmat and Vác there were typically improvements in three or four prison injuries, while in Győr, these two categories were not chosen by any of the respondents – in Győr there is generally a smaller improvement.

According to the results of the study with ATLAS.ti, one of the conditions for effective learning in prison is that the student is in the same institution during the whole learning process, because if a prisoner is transferred to another institution, there is a risk that the learning process will be interrupted, and so the student will drop out. The timing of the sentence is also crucial for learning: a too-short sentence does not make it possible to achieve the intended learning outcome, while a too-long prison period discourages those concerned.

"If the judge finds that he still gives them another year, so they extend it, they waive it all. Or if the judge decides to shorten it, they can't finish school." (Interviewed teacher No. 2)

A further experience of the study is that students are only sometimes able to take advantage of social learning time, and access to classrooms and the library is clearly hampered. This is due to the fact that prisoners can only move around the institutions accompanied by staff and have to wait for an escort in a significant proportion of cases.

"They want to go to the library, but they can't get there. This is because there are very few reintegration officers, and they will not be escorted." (Interviewed teacher No. 4)

The conflict between work obligation and teaching time is another barrier to learning. In many cases, the timing of work makes it impossible to get to the classroom, leading to learning delays. All this is compounded by the constant tensions and stressful situations between fellow prisoners, which make it difficult for students to concentrate.

Hypothesis H2A, that "The methodology of pedagogical and adult educating work in prison does not adapt to the special circumstances of learning and teaching in prison", has been confirmed using ATLAS.ti. It has been found that educators can only partially apply their methods used in out-of-prison pedagogical practice within the prison.

"Inside, the possibilities are quite limited, most frontal lessons can be kept. I was wondering if a cooperative lesson could be introduced, it works outside, but inside, I don't know if it would work." (Interviewed teacher No. 1)

The methodological success of teachers is hampered by prison security measures. The use of digital learning tools and the updating of teaching materials and learning aids during the school year are hampered.

"Material can be uploaded in September, but only in September, this cannot be changed during the year." (Interviewed teacher No. 2)

Hypothesis H2B, that "Access to the learning toolkit (textbooks, learning aids, library, etc.) is limited in space and time", has been confirmed using SPSS and ATLAS.ti. In the SPSS analysis, we found that the relationship between the place of detention and the access to the learning toolkit was significant (p=0.001). The correlation is of medium strength (Cramer'sV=0,28).

	The toolkit is not helpful	The toolkit is moderately helpful	The toolkit is greatly helpful	Total
Balassagyarmat	6	13	28	47
	12,8%	27,7%	59,6%	100,0%
Vác	7	9	29	45
	15,6%	20,0%	64,4%	100,0%
Győr	17	9	9	35
	48,6%	25,7%	25,7%	100,0%
Total	30	31	66	127
	23,6%	24,4%	52,0%	100,0%

11<sup>th</sup> Table
Crosstabulation of the supportive nature of the learning toolkit available in prison and the of the place of detention

A study with ATLAS.ti found that textbooks and other related teaching and demonstration tools in prison libraries are incomplete. Furthermore, libraries are difficult for detainees to access due to a lack of accompanying staff.

"We need to put together an illustrative toolkit that we would bring in and apply. They are sure to learn what they see in a tenth of a time." (Interviewed teacher No. 8)

Nowadays, the use of info-communication devices and the Internet would also be an essential condition for the education of prisoners – digital devices can only be used offline in prison. Educators emphasized the importance of using the internet in class.

"It's 2019, and the use of the internet is mandatory. We cannot exist without using the Internet, it is very difficult to teach. And it is forbidden in prison." (Interviewed teacher No. 3)

The furnishings and facilities of the classrooms do not meet the needs of adult learning.

"What is given is a very simple, old-fashioned classroom with a single board and 3 chalks." (Interviewed teacher No. 3)

Hypothesis H2C, that "The system of teacher training and in-service training in Hungary does not include special training for the training of prisoners", has been confirmed using ATLAS.ti. It was found that none of the interviewed teachers was aware

of any in-service training in prison pedagogy or any preparatory course that would support their work:

"I don't know about it, I've never heard anything like it in my life, that there would be some further training in prison." (Interviewed teacher No. 2)

During the interviews, there is a recurring need for professionals to provide training that would prepare pedagogical professionals for the challenges arising from the behavior and attitudes of prisoners.:

"If the prison were to think about education with us in the longer term, it would be good if we could get at least one such theoretical training, which is key for these people." (Interviewed teacher No. 12)

In the absence of training and further training, teachers are actually left to their own devices concerning to the use of special prison pedagogical methods.

Hypothesis H2D, that "Teachers who work in prison conditions adapt to the needs of the target groups through self-training", has been confirmed using ATLAS.ti. Teachers employed in prisons do not have a professional organization, they usually only have the opportunity to discuss their professional problems by meeting at random.

"We don't communicate with each other, we don't even meet each other, only on very rare occasions. I have no insight of the work of my colleagues at all." (Interviewed teacher No. 13)

Occasionally, teachers visit each other at the expense of their free time, but these events take place on an individual initiative, in an unorganized way.

"We have to learn almost everything from each other and ourselves." (Interviewed teacher No. 6)

Educators try to prepare for their special pedagogical tasks within the penitentiary system through self-training.

#### Confirmation of hypothesis H3

Hypothesis H3, that "The feasibility and success of the legislation related to education, which helps reintegration, strongly depends on the given personal and material conditions and possibilities of the prison.", has been confirmed using ATLAS.ti, as a result of which it can be established that legal, reintegration opportunities are not fully exploited. It was found that the success of the learning-teaching process in prisons depends not only on the opportunities provided by the legal background but also on the existing learning motivation of the detainees and the supportive attitude of the staff (guards, reintegration officers, and their staff). There are no legal provisions for implementing and enforcing the possibilities provided by law. There is no guidance for either the prison staff or the teachers employed in the prison on how to implement clear and forward-looking legal provisions, i. e. what tools, conditions, opportunities should or could be taken into account in pedagogical work for reintegration. As a result of these shortcomings, legal options often remain untapped.

"There are a couple of reintegration officers who do their job very reluctantly, and that puts us at a standstill." (Interviewed teacher No. 1)

#### Suggestions

Based on the doctoral research, in order to make prison learning more effective and efficient and to fulfil its role of reintegration more effectively the following suggestions can be formulated:

- It is necessary to modernize the learning and teaching processes in the prison, taking into account the new pedagogical-andragogical research results.
- Within the framework of the given legal background, a more modern, special learning environment and methodology of study support should be provided for students in prisons, corresponding to the specifics of the target group of prisoners. As part of this, it is necessary to develop a new system of material and personal conditions for learning, to expand the tools of prison learning (illustrative and teaching tools, library, experimental tools, etc.), and ensure regular library use.

- The organized further training of teachers teaching in prison in prison pedagogy and prison andragogy is of key importance, as well as the exchange of experience and the provision of opportunities for the connection and cooperation of teachers.
- In order to successfully reintegrate prisoners, more attention needs to be paid to seizing the opportunities offered by the legal environment.
- Research should be launched in the field of prison pedagogy and prison andragogy to develop a methodological culture. Penitentiary should provide space for developmental initiatives and research formulated by staff members, heads of institutions and other professionals, so that, as far as possible, learning can successfully contribute to the achievement of reintegration goals, facilitate the successful realization of reintegration forms into society.

#### 4. References

- Act 240, 2013 on the implementation of penalties, measures, certain coercive measures, and the jailing for infringements. https://net.jogtar.hu/jogszabaly?docid=a1300240.tv (07.06.2021)
- 16/2014. (XII. 19.) IM regulation https://net.jogtar.hu/jogszabaly?docid=a1400016.im (16.04.2020)
- Balázs, P. (2017). Reintegrációs tevékenység, oktatás, felzárkóztatás, börtönszínház. *Börtönügyi Szemle*, *36*(1), 110–112.
- Bolgár, J. (2019). Összehasonlító lélektani ismeretek. In: Czenczer, O. & Ruzsonyi, P. (ed.), *Büntetés-végrehajtási reintegrációs ismeretek*. Budapest: Dialóg Campus, 139–161.
- Budai, G. (2017). Fogvatartottak képzése és foglalkoztatása a Pálhalmai Országos Büntetés-végrehajtási Intézetben. *Börtönügyi Szemle*, *36*(1), 5–19.
- Commission of The European Communities (2000). *A Memorandum on Lifelong Learning*. Brussels: Commission of The European Communities http://uil.unesco.org/i/doc/lifelong-learning/policies/european-communities-a-memorandum-on-lifelong-learning.pdf (18.02.2018)

- Dafinoiu, I. & Lungu, O. (2003). Research Methods in the Social Sciences/Metode de cercetare in stiintele sociale. Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang Europäischer Verlag der Wissenschaften
- Downes, P. (2014). Access to Education in Europe. A Framework and Agenda for System Change. London: Springer
- European Commission (1996). White Paper on Education and Training. Teaching and Learning. Towards the Learning Society. Brussels: European Commission http://europa.eu/documents/comm/white\_papers/pdf/com95\_590\_en.pdf (18.02.2018)
- Fleming, T. (2011). Models of Lifelong Learning: An Overview. In: London, M. (ed.), *Oxford Handbook of Lifelong Learning*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 29–39.
- Foucault, M. (1990). Discipline and Punish. The Birth of the Prison. New York: Vintage Books
- Glaser, B. G. & Strauss, A. L. (1967). *The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. London: AldineTransaction
- Gorgol, L. A. & Sponsler, B. A. (2011). *Issue brief. Unlocking Potential: Results of a National Survey of Postsecondary Education in State Prisons*. Washington, DC: Institute for Higher Education Policy http://www.ihep.org/sites/default/files/uploads/docs/pubs/unlocking\_potential-psce\_final\_report\_may\_2011.pdf (27.10.2015)
- Hegedűs, J. (2019). Oktatás a büntetés-végrehajtási intézetekben. In: Czenczer, O. & Ruzsonyi, P. (ed.), *Büntetés-végrehajtási reintegrációs ismeretek*. Budapest: Dialóg Campus, 109–114.
- Kraiciné Szokoly, M. (2012). Sajátos tanítási-tanulási igény felnőttkorban. In: Henczi, L. (ed.), *A szak- és felnőttképzés-szervezés gyakorlata*. RAABE ISSN 1788-9626 RAABE 2012, 1–26.
- Mayer, A. A szórás fogalma és használata az SPSS programban. https://spssabc.hu/leiro-statisztika/szoras-fogalma/ (15.11.2021)
- Rutkai, K. & Sánta, L. (2020). Fogvatartással összefüggő adatok. *Börtönstatisztikai Szemle*, 2020(1), 6–10. https://bv.gov.hu/sites/default/files/Bortonstatisztikai\_Szemle\_2020.pdf (28.11.2021)
- Ruzsonyi, P. (2011). A skandináv országok büntetés-végrehajtási rendszerének elemzése. *Börtönügyi Szemle*, *30*(1), 1–19.

- Sántha, K. (2012). Numerikus problémák a kvalitatív megbízhatósági mutatók meghatározásánál. *Iskolakultúra*, 22(3), 64–73. http://www.iskolakultura.hu/index.php/iskolakultura/article/view/21248/21038 (28.11.2021)
- Schiller, E., Dorner, H. & Szabó, Z. A. (2020). Developing senior learners' autonomy in language learning. An exploratory study of Hungarian adult educators' support strategies. *Educational Gerontology*, 46(12), 746–756. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03601277.2020.1813974 (28.11.2021)
- Schöh, J. & Stuefer, A. (2017). *Handbuch Strafvollzug. Fakten Rechtsgrundlagen Mustersammlung*. Vienna: NWV Verlag
- Tippelt, R. & Hippel, A. (2010). *Handbuch Erwachsenenbildung/Weiterbildung*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften https://www.wiwi.uni-rostock.de/fileadmin/Institute/BWL/WiPaed/2010\_Handbuch\_Erwachsenen\_Weit erbildung.pdf (27.02.2018)

# 5. The author's publications on the topic of the dissertation

Papers, journal articles

- Molnár, A. K. (2020). Felnőttkori tanulás a magyar és szlovák börtönökben. In: Csehné Papp, I. & Kraiciné Szokoly, M. (ed.), *Felnőttkori tanulás: Fókuszban a szakképzés és a munkaerőpiac*. Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó https://mersz.hu/hivatkozas/m762ft\_149#m762ft\_149 (30.11.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. & Kraiciné Szokoly, M. (2020). Prison Andragogy or Learning Opportunities in Hungarian Prisons. *Andragoske Studije*, 2020(1), 147–161. http://www.as.edu.rs/pdf/37 (30.11.2021)
- Takács-Miklósi, M., Molnár, A. K., Dézsi, J. & Hopkins, S. (2018). In The Service of Reintegration: Educators in Hungarian Correctional Institutions. *Advancing Corrections Journal*, 4(6), 91–101. https://icpa.org/library/advancing-corrections-journal-edition-6-article-9/(30.11.2021)

- Molnár, A. K. (2018). Ítélettől szabadulásig Börtönközösségek fejlesztése a reintegráció támogatása érdekében. In: Endrődy-Nagy, O. & Fehérvári, A. (ed.), *Innováció, kutatás, pedagógusok*. Budapest: Magyar Nevelés- és Oktatáskutatók Egyesülete (HERA), 130–140. http://hera.org.hu/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/HERA\_Evkonyvek\_V.pdf (30.11.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. (2017). Börtönbeli csoportfoglalkozások a társadalmi reintegrációért. In: Karlovitz, J. T. (ed.), *Válogatott tanulmányok a pedagógiai elmélet és szakmódszertanok köréből*. Komárno: International Research Institute s.r.o., 146–151. http://www.irisro.org/pedagogia2017januar/38MolnarAttilaKaroly.pdf (25.11.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. (2017). Csoportos meditáció fogvatartottakkal a Balassagyarmati Fegyház és Börtönben napló. *Börtönügyi Szemle*, *36*(4), 75–87.
- Molnár, A. K. (2017). Kilépés a börtönből andragógiával a reintegrációért. *Magyar Rendészet*, 2017(1), 117–129. https://folyoirat.ludovika.hu/index.php/magyrend/article/download/2025/1306/66 61 (28.11.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. (2016). Andragógiai eszközökkel az elítéltek reintegrációjáért. In: Keresztes, G. (ed.), Tavaszi Szél 2016 Tanulmánykötet. IV. kötet. Budapest: Doktoranduszok Országos Szövetsége, 56–68. https://dosz.hu/\_\_doc/dokumentumfile/TSZ\_IV\_kotet\_161114\_504o.pdf (25.11.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. (2016). Vissza a társadalomba börtön és andragógia. In: Tóth, P., Makó, F. & Varga, A. (ed.), *Empirikus kutatások az oktatásban és a pedagógusképzésben. VI. Trefort Ágoston Szakképzés- és Felsőoktatás-pedagógiai Konferencia, Tanulmánykötet.* Budapest: Óbudai Egyetem, Trefort Ágoston Mérnökpedagógiai Központ, 108–125. http://tmpk.uni-obuda.hu/letoltes/Trefort\_konferencia-6\_kotet\_2016.pdf (25.11.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. (2015). Mentális gyakorlatok a börtönben. *Börtönügyi Szemle*, *34*(2), 69–77.

- Molnár, A. K. (2015). Résztvevő-központú eszközökkel a fogvatartottak reintegrációjáért. *Felnőttképzési Szemle*, 9(1), 70–80. http://kulturasz.hu/fszemle/assets/files/2015.1.pdf (28.11.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. (2015). Új eszközök a kriminálandragógiában. OTDK-s pályamű. https://www.elte.hu/file/OTDK 2015 MolnarAttilaKaroly.pdf (28.11.2021)

#### Conferences and scientific presentations

- Molnár, A. K. (2021). Fogvatartottak tanulása COVID előtt és után. HuCER. http://hera.org.hu/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Hucer2021 Abstract.pdf#page=100 (30.11.2021)
- Miklósi, M. & Molnár, A. K. (2021). A kultúra szerepe a reintegrációban az informális tanulás jogi támogatottsága a börtönökben In: Buda, A. & Kiss, E. (ed.), *Interdiszciplináris pedagógia a bizonytalanság korában*. Debrecen: Debreceni Egyetem Nevelés- és Művelődéstudományi Intézet, 43–43. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Andras-Buda/publication/356474573\_INTERDISZCIPLINARIS\_PEDAGOGIA\_A\_BIZ ONYTALANSAG\_KORABAN/links/619d46c1f1d6244571623101/INTERDISZ CIPLINARIS-PEDAGOGIA-A-BIZONYTALANSAG-KORABAN.pdf (02.12.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. (2019). How Prisoners Learn: Andragogical Tools in the Hungarian Penitentiary 15. MELLearN Nemzeti és nemzetközi lifelong learning konferencia: Felsőoktatási innovációk a tanulás korában: a digitalizáció, képességfejlesztés és a hálózatosodás kihívásai http://mellearn.hu/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/How-Prisoners-Learn.pdf (01.12.2021)
- Miklósi, M., Molnár, A. K. & Becker-Pestka, D. (2018). Functioning people who are prone to social exclusion. Theory and practice in Hungary and Poland. Inclusion and Exclusion, Resources for Educational Research? https://eera-ecer.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/Documents/ECER\_Documents/ECER\_2018\_Buch\_f%C3%BCr\_Website.pdf (30.11.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. & Miklósi, M. (2018). The appearance of Andragogy in prisons of Hungary and Slovakia. Inclusion and Exclusion, Resources for Educational

Research?

https://eera-

ecer.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/Documents/ECER\_Documents/ECER\_2018\_Buch f%C3%BCr Website.pdf (30.11.2021)

Molnár, A. K. (2017). Börtönbeli csoportfoglalkozások a társadalmi reintegrációért. V. Neveléstudományi és Szakmódszertani Konferencia. http://www.irisro.org/pedkonf2017prgramabsztrakt01.pdf (30.11.2021)

#### 6. Other publications of the author

Conference presentations

- Molnár, A. K. (2021). Hátrányos helyzetűek tanulástámogatása. MellearN http://mellearn.hu/conference-call-abstrakt/ (05.12.2021)
- Kovács, Zs., Molnár, A. K. & Kasza, G. (2019). A Harmadik Kor Egyeteme nyertesei: résztvevők és oktatók. MellearN. http://mellearn.hu/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/hke.pdf (05.12.21)
- Molnár, A. K. (2018). Tanulási lehetőségek és azok kihasználása a magyar börtönökben. XVIII. Országos Neveléstudományi Konferencia. http://onk2018.elte.hu/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Absztrakt-k%C3%B6tet\_FINAL.pdf (05.12.21)
- Kovács, Zs., Kasza, G. & Molnár, A. K. (2018): Tanulás és motiváció a Harmadik Kor Egyeteme szemináriumain. 10th BGL-ALC Network Conference
- Molnár, A. K. (2018). Felnőttkori tanulás a magyar és szlovák börtönökben Tavaszi Szél 2018 Konferencia
- Kasza, G., Molnár, A. K, Papp, A. & Szilágyi, G. (2017). Motivációs stratégiák alkalmazása a Harmadik Kor Egyeteme szemináriumain. Aktív időskor és tudományos ismeretterjesztés Konferencia
- Molnár, A. K. (2017). Ítélettől szabadulásig börtönközösségek fejlesztése a reintegráció támogatása érdekében. HERA HuCER Konferencia
- Molnár, A. K. (2016). Kilépés a börtönből andragógiával a reintegrációért A Rendészeti Ágazat Doktoranduszainak VIII. Országos Fóruma
- Molnár, A. K. (2016). Vissza a társadalomba börtön és andragógia VI. Trefort Ágoston Szakképzés- és Felsőoktatás-pedagógiai Konferencia

- https://adoc.pub/queue/vi-trefort-agoston-szakkepzes-es-felsoktatas-pedagogiai-konf.html# (04.12.2021)
- Molnár, A. K. (2016). Andragógiai eszközökkel az elítéltek reintegrációjáért Tavaszi Szél 2016 Konfrencia.
- Molnár, A. K. (2015): Új eszközök a kriminálandragógiában Országos Tudományos Diákköri Konferencia.

#### Other presentations

- Molnár, A. K. (2021). Börtöntanulás andragógiai szemszögből. Magyar Tudományos Akadémia Andragógiai Albizottságának ülése.
- Molnár, A. K. (2020). Vissza a tanulás jövőjébe beszámoló az OECD tanulásról szóló forgatókönyveiről a Magyar Pedagógiai Társaság ülésén.
- Molnár, A. K. (2014). A múzeumandragógia és a kriminálandragógia találkozási pontjai. ELTEfeszt